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Michelle E. Hill, Esq. (CSB# 183126)
HillLawFirm(@charter.net

THE HILL LAW FIRM

3200 E. Guasti Road, Suite 100
Ontario, California 91761

Telephone: (909) 295-2497

Attorneys for Plaintiff
NEIL MCGOWAN

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT - SAN JOSE DIVISION

NEIL MCGOWAN, an individual,

Plaintiff,

NETAPP, INC., a Delaware
corporation. HENRI RICHARD,
ELIZABETH O’CALLAHAN. DEBRA
MCCOWAN, CESAR CERNUDA,
RICHARD SCURFIELD, MAXWELL
LONG, ROSALIND HILL, and Does 1
through 50,

Defendants.

Case No.:

Assigned for all purposes to
Department

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR

gl) VIOLATION OF RICO 18 U.S.C. §
962(a);

52) VIOLATION OF RICO 18 U.S.C. §
962(c);

(3) VIOLATION OF RICO 18 U.S.C. §
1962(d);

(4) BREACH OF CONTRACT;

(5) BREACH OF IMPLIED
COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH;

(6) FRAUD;

(7) RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF
LABOR CODE § 1102.5(b);

(8) RACE/NATIONAL ORIGIN
DISCRIMINATION;

(9% WRONGFUL TERMINATION IN
VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY;

%118% INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF
OTIONAL DISTRESS;
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%1 1) FAILURE TO PAY ALL WAGES
N VIOLATION OF LABOR CODE §
204 AND 204.1;

(12) STATUTORY PENALTIES
PURRSUANT TO LABOR CODE § 210;

(13) WAITING TIME PENALTIES IN
XIOLATION OF LABOR CODE § 203;
ND

(14) UNFAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES
IN VIOLATION OF BUSINESS &
PROFESSIONS CODE § 17200.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
IND CA Rule 3-6(a)

COMES NOW Plaintiff NEIL MCGOWAN (“Plaintiff” or “MCGOWAN”)
alleges, by and through his attorney, THE HILL LAW FIRM, by Attorney Michelle E.
Hill, as and for claims against the Defendants NETAPP, INC. (“NETAPP”’), HENRI
RICHARD, (RICHARD) ELIZABETH O’CALLAHAN (O’CALLAHAN), DEBRA
MCCOWAN (MCCOWAN), CESAR CERNUDA (CERNUDA), RICHARD
SCURFIELD (SCURFIELD), MAXWELL LONG (“LONG”), and ROSALIND HILL
(“HILL”), and shows to the Court as follows:

JURISDICTION

1. This action arises under federal law and the laws of California. Plaintiffs
seek to recover compensatory damages sustained, resulting from Defendants’ alleged
fraudulent conduct, along with the costs of this suit, interest and reasonable attorney’s
fees. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to the Racketeer Influenced and
Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”) 18 U.S.C. § 1965 (specifically 18 U.S.C. §
1964(a), (c) and (d)), and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

2. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 over
Plaintiff’s California law claims for national origin discrimination in violation of

California Fair Employment and Housing Act, codified in Government Code §12900, et
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seq. (“FEHA”), retaliation in violation of Government Code §12940(h) and Labor Code

§ 1102.5(b), wrongful termination in violation of public policy, intentional infliction of
emotional distress, and unfair business practices in violation of Business and Professions

Code § 17200 et seq.

DIVISIONAL ASSIGNMENT
3. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2),

(c)(2), and (d) because Defendant NETAPP’s corporate headquarters are located within this
Northern judicial district employing Plaintiff as well as numerous other California employees
and it engages in business throughout California and the district creating sufficient contacts to
subject NETAPP to personal jurisdiction and which it has the most significant contacts.
Additionally, a substantial part, if not all, events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claim occurred
within this judicial district.
NATURE OF THE ACTION
4. Plaintiff MCGOWAN has been victimized by a pattern of racketeering

activity perpetrated against him and other commission earning employees in a

manner forbidden by Section 1962. After the 2018 companywide reorganization,
Defendant NETAPP openly expressed its intent to reduce operating expenses. As it is
well-established that employee salaries are a company’s highest operating expense,
Defendants HENRI RICHARD (“RICHARD”), ELIZABETH O’CALLAHAN
(“O’CALLAHAN"), DEBRA MCCOWAN (“MCCOWAN”), and RICHARD
SCURFIELD (“SCURFIELD”) with the assistance of the finance, human resources and
accounting departments mastermind various schemes and tactics that allowed them to
untimely pay and/or outright deny the sales team earned commissions.

5. These conspiring executives, directors, officers and managing agents
created incentive commission plans under the false pretense that Plaintiff MCGOWAN
and other commission earning employees, including other VP/GMs, had the opportunity
to maximize their respective commission earnings based upon meeting specified sales

goals. Having implemented a masked commission depressor, RICO Defendants

3
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knowingly induced Plaintiff and others to meet and surpass the specified sales goals but
RICO Defendants had no intention of paying the promised commissions at the time they
were earned, and on at least two separate occasions, did not pay the commissions earned.

6. Commencing in May 2018 and continuing to the present, Defendants
utilized the company’s Annual Fiscal Year (FY) Incentive Compensation Plan
(“Incentive Plan) as a vehicle to implement their scheme and could not have done so
without the complicity and assistance of each of the other named Defendants, including
Defendant NETAPP, INC. (“NETAPP”).

7. Defendant NETAPP agreed to compensate Plaintiff and other salespersons
with a base salary plus commissions earned through a commission plan incentive. Under
the false pretense and intentional misrepresentation that Plaintiff and other sales
employees would earn commissions equivalent to 100% of their respective salary for
selling product at agreed upon goals, Plaintiff and the sales team worked diligently to
exceed said agreed upon goals. Yet, Defendants had no intention of fully compensating
them.

8. Defendant NETAPP allowed individual Defendants RICHARD,
O’CALLAHAN, MCCOWAN and SCURFIELD to draft, issue and implement Incentive
Plans and Goal Sheets knowing that they had no intention of fully honoring the
commissions earned. Consistent with said intent, Defendant NETAPP allowed
Defendants to deny Plaintiff his earned commissions on at least two occasions despite
Plaintiff surpassing his stated and agreed upon goals. Defendant NETAPP was
instrumental in falsely classifying Plaintiff and other sales employees’ previously earned
wages as retention bonuses for less than the amount owed and paid only if Plaintiff
remained employed. Said retention bonus constituted and continues to constitute secret
deductions in violation of California’s established public policy against any deductions,
setoffs, or recoupments by an employer from employee wages or earnings, except those

deductions specifically authorized by statute.

4

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Case 5:23-cv-04291 Document 1 Filed 08/22/23 Page 5 of 60

0. Finally, by denying Plaintiff and other sales employees their respective
fully earned commissions, Defendant NETAPP misrepresented the profitability of the
company to not only the shareholders, but also, submitted misleading reports to the
Security Exchange Committee (“SEC) that, based upon information and belief, further
evidence that Defendants secretly pays a lower wage while purporting to pay the wage
designated by the parties’ contract.”

10.  Asaresult of the commissions scheme as described more fully below,
NETAPP and the individual Defendants have received income derived, directly or
indirectly, from Defendants’ pattern of racketeering activity, and has used or invested,
directly or indirectly, said income, or the proceeds of such income, in acquisition of
interest in, or the establishment or operation of, any enterprise which is engaged in, or the
activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce.

11.  Plaintiff MCGOWAN repeatedly disclosed to RICO Defendants as well as
executive level managing agents and officers the illegality of Defendants’ failure timely
and fully pay all commissions earned. In retaliation for his advocacy, RICO Defendant
subjected Plaintiff to differential treatment because of his race/national origin by not only
denying his earned commissions, but also, subsequently terminated his employment.
Defendants violated SOX, FEHA, California Labor Laws, and other Unfair Competition
Laws.

PARTIES

12.  Plaintiff MCGOWAN is an adult African American male, Guyana national
origin, and a resident of Alameda County, State of California. At all times relevant to
this action until his termination on August 23, 2022, Plaintiff was employed with
Defendant NETAPP. At all times alleged herein, Plaintifft MCGOWAN was a
commission earning employee whose home base office was Defendant NETAPP’s Santa
Clara County office, located at 3060 Olsen Drive, San Jose, California 95128.

13.  Defendant NETAPP, a cloud-led, data-centric software business, is a publicly

traded Delaware Corporation, organized and doing business throughout California
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(Corporate No. 2370651), including at its corporate headquarters located at 3060 Olsen
Drive, San Jose, California 95128, Santa Clara County. Defendant NETAPP’s executive
and decision-making team consists of the chief executive officer (CEO), president,
executive vice president and chief procurement officer (EVP & CPO), executive vice
president and chief financial officer (EVP & CFO), and executive vice president and
chief human resources officer (EVP & CHRO). This executive management team
oversees not only company operations, but also finance, payroll, and human resources,
and therefore from the corporate offices.

14.  In addition to California, NETAPP also conducts its business throughout
the United States and globally via its sales team workforce who provides systems, software
and cloud services to companies across state lines as well as those in other countries that enable
them to run their applications optimally from data center to cloud. As such, NETAPP engages
in interstate and foreign commerce.

15.  For the purposes of Plaintiff MCGOWAN’s claims under 18 U.S.C. §
1964(c), Defendant NETAPP is the enterprise, within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§
1961(4) through which the RICO Defendants conducted their racketeering activity. For
purposes of Counts Two and Three for violations of RICO, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c) and (d),
respectively, Defendant NETAPP is not a defendant.

16.  Defendant NETAPP is liable under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) because it received
the proceeds from the alleged racketeering activity and is liable as a principal for those
acts.

17.  Regarding the state claims, Defendant NETAPP, a California based
company employing individuals throughout the state is an entity subject to suit under the

California Fair Employment and Housing Act, codified in Government Code §12900, et

seq. (“FEHA”) in that, at all times alleged herein, it employed and regularly employs
five or more persons.
18.  As Plaintiff’s former employer, Defendant NETAPP is vicariously liable

for each of the state counts because all unlawful, discriminatory, and retaliatory conduct
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and decisions alleged herein was performed by an officer, director, managing agent and/
or employee while acting in the course and scope of said relationship with Defendant
NETAPP. At all times herein, Defendant NETAPP failed to fully and timely pay
Plaintiff and other employees al wages earned. Defendants’ unlawful employment

practices consisting of violations of the California Government, Labor, and Business and

Professions Codes all occurred in the County of Santa Clara.

19.  Defendant RICHARD is an individual and an adult, and was previously
based out of Defendant NETAPP’s San Jose, California office, located at 3060 Olsen
Drive, San Jose, California 95128, Santa Clara County. Defendant NETAPP employed
Defendant RICHARD from May 2016 (Fiscal Year (FY) 2017) through the end of FY20.
As executive vice president of Worldwide Field and Customer Operations, Defendant
RICHARD was responsible for expanding relationships with Defendant NETAPP’s
strategic technology partners, resellers, and customers across the globe. He led the
company’s global customer success operations and field operations, which focused on
customer-facing functions, and supported NETAPP’s ecosystem of channel, alliance, and
service partners. At all times during his employment, he managed all offices and the
company’s operations throughout the United States and globally. Defendant RICHARD
was the direct supervisor of Richard Scurfield and other senior vice presidents in global
sales. Defendant RICHARD had discretion to decide on employee discipline as well as
modify company payment structures. At all times herein, RICHARD was a managing
agent with apparent authority over Plaintiff MCGOWAN and was responsible for
business operations and during the course and scope of his employment, managed the
operations of Defendant NETAPP’s national and international sales department.

20.  Defendant RICHARD is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§1961(3), and as a person associated with said enterprise which violated 18 U.S.C. §§
1962(c) and (d). Plaintiff MCGOWAN alleges that Defendant RICHARD conspired with
co-Defendants and other directors, officers and managing agents to concoct the

fraudulent commissions scheme to reduce operating expenses. Defendant RICHARD
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created, concocted and/or actively participated in said ongoing scheme which
commenced in 2018 and continues to the present wherein Defendants misrepresented to
Plaintiff and at least eighty-nine (89) sales team their commissions earned and
intentionally failed to pay all commissions owed. Defendant RICHARD benefited from
said fraud and misrepresentation as he received substantial cash bonuses and restricted
stock units (RSUs) awards for the fraudulently increased financial results.

21.  Defendant O’CALLAHAN is an individual and an adult, and based upon
information and belief, a California resident based out of the company’s San Jose,
California office, Santa Clara County. Defendant O’CALLAHAN has been employed
with Defendant NETAPP’s legal team since 2013. Employed at the executive level,
Defendant O’CALLAHAN is the company’s chief legal officer, appointed in October
2018, responsible for overseeing all legal matters at the company and managing the
worldwide legal team. She is also the corporate secretary and chief compliance officer
responsible for ensuring that all regulatory filings with the Securities Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) are complete, accurate, and truthful.

22.  Defendant O’CALLAHAN is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§1961(3), and as a person associated with said enterprise which violated 18 U.S.C. §§
1962(c) and (d). Plaintiff alleges that Defendant O’CALLAHAN conspired with co-
Defendants and other directors, officers and managing agents to concoct the fraudulent
commissions scheme to reduce operating expenses. Defendant O’CALLAHAN
conducts and/or actively participates in said ongoing scheme which misrepresented to
Plaintiff and the sales team their commissions earned. Defendant O’ CALLAHAN
benefited from the misrepresented earned and unpaid commissions as she received
substantial cash bonuses and RSU awards for the fraudulently increased financial results.

23.  Defendant MCCOWAN is an individual and an adult, and based upon
information and belief, a resident of California, and is based out of the company’s San
Jose, California office. Defendant MCCOWAN has been employed with Defendant
NETAPP since October 15, 2018. She is the company’s executive vice president and

8
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chief human resources officer (“CHRQO”), responsible for developing the global HR
strategy and leading the entire organization, including talent acquisition, talent
development and learning, business partnerships, organizational development and
effectiveness, compensation and benefits, diversity, inclusion and belonging, operations,
and systems.

24,  Defendant MCCOWAN is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§1961(3), and as a person associated with said enterprise which violated 18 U.S.C. §§
1962(c) and (d). Defendant MCCOWAN conducts and/or actively participates in the
named RICO Defendants’ fraudulent commission scheme created to “streamline its core
business and reduce operating expenses without losing its competitive edge. Defendant
MCCOWAN benefited from the misrepresented earned and unpaid commissions, based
upon information and belief, by concealing said true facts concerning NETAPP’s expens¢]
and obligation payments regarding commissions. She received substantial cash bonuses
and RSU awards for the fraudulently increased financial results.

25.  Defendant SCURFIELD is an individual and an adult, and based upon
information and belief, a resident of Santa Clara County, California. Defendant
SCURFIELD had been employed with Defendant NETAPP for almost twenty (20) years
when he appointed to the position as senior vice president of Globals (SVPG). Defendant
SCURFIELD was responsible for growing and leading sales teams supporting Defendant
NETAPP’s largest global accounts, vertical segments, global pathways, and the U.S.
public sector. He managed all offices and the company’s operations throughout the
United States and globally and has discretion to decide on employee discipline as well as
modify company payment structures. Defendant SCURFIELD is based out of the
company’s San Jose, California office, located at 3060 Olsen Drive, San Jose, California
95128, Santa Clara County.

26.  Defendant SCURFIELD is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§1961(3), and as a person associated with said enterprise which violated 18 U.S.C. §§
1962(c) and (d). Defendant SCURFIELD conducts and/or actively participates in the

9
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named RICO Defendants ongoing scheme to fraudulently misrepresent the commissions
earned and paid to the sales team and to misclassify said earned wages as retention
bonuses in subsequent quarters. Defendant SCURFIELD benefited from the
misrepresented earned and unpaid commissions. In May 2021, he was promoted to chief
commercial officer and received substantial cash bonuses and RSU awards for the
fraudulently increased financial results.

27.  Defendant CESAR CERNUDA (“CERNUDA”) is an individual and an
adult, and based upon information and belief, a resident of Madrid Spain. On or about
May 2020, Defendant NETAPP employed Defendant CERNUDA as President of
Worldwide Sales North (PWWS) to ramp up the company’s efforts to drive consistency
and simplicity across its global sales organization and more aggressively address key
markets and segments while reaching new customers and partners. Defendant
CERNUDA managed and continues to manage offices and the company’s operations in
multiple states and countries and has discretion to decide on employee discipline as well
as modify company payment structures. Defendant CERNUDA is based out of the
company’s San Jose, California office, located at 3060 Olsen Drive, San Jose, California
95128, Santa Clara County.

28.  Defendant CERNUDA is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§1961(3), and as a person associated with said enterprise which violated 18 U.S.C. §§
1962(c) and (d). Upon his appointment, Defendant CERNUDA learned of said ongoing
scheme and then actively participated in the scheme to fraudulently misrepresent the
commissions earned and paid to the sales team. Defendant CERNUDA benefited from
the misrepresented earned and unpaid commissions as he received substantial cash
bonuses and RSU awards for the fraudulently increased financial results.

29.  Defendant MAXWELL LONG (“LONG”) is an individual and an adult,
and based upon information and belief, a resident of Santa Clara County, California. On
or about May 1, 2021, Defendant NETAPP employed Defendant LONG as senior vice

president of North America sales (SVPNA) to continue the company’s focus on aligning
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NETAPP’s business objectives in the United States and Canada as driven by NETAPP’s
customers’ business requirements. The executive level appointed Defendant LONG to
lead direct sales, channel sales, and demand generation teams. He manages offices and
the company’s operations in multiple states and Canada and has discretion to decide on
employee discipline as well as modify company payment structures. Defendant LONG is
based out of the company’s San Jose, California office, located at 3060 Olsen Drive, San
Jose, California 95128, Santa Clara County.

30. Defendant LONG is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1961(3),
and as a person associated with said enterprise which violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c) and
(d). Upon becoming Plaintiff MCGOWAN’s direct supervisor, Defendant LONG began
and continued to actively participate in the ongoing scheme to fraudulently misrepresent
the commissions earned and paid to the sales team and to misclassify said earned wages
as retention bonuses. At all times herein, Defendant LONG was a managing agent with
apparent authority over Plaintiff MCGOW AN, and was responsible for business
operations, and did, and continues to manage the operations of Defendant NETAPP’s
national and international sales department. He benefited from said fraud and
misrepresentation as he received substantial cash bonuses and RSU awards for the
fraudulently increased financial results.

31.  Defendant ROSALIND HILL (“HILL”) is an individual and an adult, and
based upon information and belief, a resident of Santa Clara County, California.
Defendant HILL is employed with Defendant NETAPP as director, human resources,
directly handling issues for Defendant LONG’s direct reports, including Plaintiff.
Defendant HILL has the discretion to decide on employee discipline as well as modify
company payment structures. Defendant HILL is based out of the company’s San Jose,
California office, located at 3060 Olsen Drive, San Jose, California 95128, Santa Clara
County.

32.  Defendant HILL is as a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1961(3),
and as a person employed by said enterprise which violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c) and (d).

11

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Case 5:23-cv-04291 Document 1 Filed 08/22/23 Page 12 of 60

As Defendant LONG’s HR representative, Defendant HILL conducts and/or actively
participates in the ongoing scheme to fraudulently misrepresent the commissions earned
and paid to the sales team and to misclassify said earned wages as retention bonuses.
Defendant HILL benefited from the misrepresented earned and unpaid commissions. At
all times herein, Defendant HILL was responsible for the compliance elements and the
checks and balances properly processing the payment of earned commissions. She
worked closely with Defendant LONG to set and achieve the company’s sales goals. She
benefited from said fraud and misrepresentation as she received substantial cash bonuses
and RSU awards for the fraudulently increased financial results.

33. Individual Defendants O’CALLAHAN, RICHARD, MCCOWAN,
SCURFIELD, CERNUDA, LONG and HILL are hereinafter referred to as “RICO
Defendants.”

34.  Plaintiff MCGOWAN is ignorant of the true names and capacities of
defendants sued herein as DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, and therefore sues these
defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff MCGOWAN will amend this Complaint to
allege their true names and capacities when ascertained. Plaintiff MCGOWAN is
informed and believes, and thereon alleges that each of these fictitiously named
defendants is responsible in some manner for the occurrences herein alleged, and that
Plaintift MCGOWAN’s injuries alleged herein were proximately caused by Defendants.

35.  Plaintiff MCGOWAN is informed and believes, and thereon alleges that at
all times alleged herein each of the defendants was the agent and employee of each of the
remaining defendants and, in doing the things hereinafter alleged, was acting within the
course and scope of such agency or employment.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

36. Defendant NETAPP is a publicly traded company with a class of securities
registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78I),
and/or is required to file reports under section 15(d) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 780(d)) with

the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). It markets and sales and/or provides
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hardware and software data storage systems and technologies for use by enterprise
clients, data centers and the cloud globally in all vertical industries.

37.  The company is comprised of over 10,000 employees, working throughout
California, the United States and globally. The average age is approximately forty-seven
(47), however, when NETAPP reorganizes and/or eliminates job positions, management
utilizes practices and policies that adversely and disproportionately affect employees in
the late fifties (50s) and older, and primarily those who are Black of African-American.

38.  On September 25, 2017, Defendant NETAPP hired Plaintiff MCGOWAN
as Vice President and General Manager of America Sales (VP/GM Sales) to oversee and
increase sales in the eastern region. Defendants represented to Plaintiff that he would
earn an annual base salary plus incentive commissions commensurate with his skill and
expertise and which is competitive for the industry. Defendant NETAPP represented
that under its commission plan incentive, Plaintiff had the opportunity to earn up to 100%
of his base salary.

39. Defendant NETAPP offered and Plaintiff accepted an annual base salary
of $270,000.00 plus sales commissions compensation in accordance with the company’s
Fiscal Year (FY) incentive compensation plan (“Plan”) which provided for an annual
target incentive of $270,000.00. At 100% performance, Plaintiff’s offered and agreed
total annual income was $540,000.00 plus annual merit increases.

40.  With input from the general manager of sales, each respective commission
plan incentive sets forth market initiatives and sales goals for the forthcoming fiscal year
and 1s administered on a “whole month” participation basis. Each commission plan
incentive is reviewed, approved and authorized by NETAPP’s executive management
team, including the president, executive vice president of field operations, senior vice
president of worldwide sales and/or the geography vice president of sales. For financial
reporting purposes, NETAPP’s fiscal year ends (FYE) on April 30 of each year. For tax
purposes, this is referred to as the 52-to-53-week year-end. The incentive pay is paid

after the close of each fiscal month in arrears.
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41.  The target incentive was based upon Plaintiff achieving his specified goals
according to the Plan. Plaintiff received 13,000 RSUs which vested at the rate of 25%
per year beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date. Following each vesting
date, Plaintiff was to receive shares of NetApp, Inc. common stock. His VP Sales
position was based in New York, so Defendant NETAPP provided MCGOWAN a
relocation benefits package which allowed Plaintiff MCGOWAN to complete the move
to New York by Spring 2018.

42. Prior to his employment, the eastern region sales team frequently
languished below its quarterly and annual operation goals and had undergone a series of
leadership changes. Plaintiff commenced leading and organizing the eastern team with
one month remaining in the second quarter; the group had ended the 1QFY 18 behind the
goals for the annual operating plan (“AOP”’). While commuting weekly between
California and New York, as VP Sales, Plaintiff MCGOWAN rehauled the team’s
strategies and plans resulting in overachieving the Q3FY 18 goals. The eastern region
team had recovered a significant portion of the AOP shortfall by the end of Q3FY18,
continued the momentum into Q4FY 18, and finished the year by exceeding the annual
plan for FY18. For the first time in over several years, the eastern region had achieved
approximately $800 million in orders against a plan of about $700 million.

43.  During the course of this same fiscal period, from February 2018 to April
2018, Defendant NETAPP reorganized, based upon information and belief, its structure,

finances, sales de
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